FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
9/21/2023 10:55 AM
No. 56801-2-II

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/21/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

102409-6

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

٧.

GARY HARTMAN, Petitioner

## APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF PIERCE COUNTY

THE HONORABLE JUDGE STANLEY J. RUMBAUGH

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Marie J. Trombley, WSBA 41410 PO Box 829 Graham, WA 253-445-7920

##

#### INTRODUCTION

In Washington State there is no constraint on the effect of the judicially created doctrine of "voluntary abandonment" of DNA against a person's constitutional right guaranteeing he shall not "be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, without authority of law."

The abandonment doctrine must be considered in light of technological advances by non-state laboratories which can obtain DNA information which far exceeds that available in CODIS or NDIS, and provide this intensely private information to law enforcement. Using outside laboratories and public DNA websites can inform law enforcement about genetic relatives, misattribution of paternity, and the most private health information.

In this case, without judicial oversight of a warrant, an uncertified lab at the behest of law enforcement, acted to analyze DNA left at a crime scene. It provided to the state private health information such as genetic tendency

toward substance abuse and bipolar illness, baldness and ethnicity. The information was uploaded to a consumer DNA database, which at the time did not require consent from consumers for their DNA information to be searched by law enforcement. The goal was to obtain the identity of the unknown suspect, or at least the identity of unsuspecting relatives.

The lack of limit on the government's use of an individual's 'voluntarily abandoned' DNA in whatever way is deemed appropriate to the State implicates Article I, §7. This case asks the Court to consider whether the use of advanced technology to uncover intensely private information, without a judicially authorized search warrant, violates Article I § 7 of the Washington Constitution. And whether Mr. Hartman had standing to challenge the admission of that information in court.

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Gary Hartman, the appellant below, asks the Court to review the published decision of Division II of the Court of Appeals referred to in Section II below.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Gary Hartman seeks review of the Court of Appeals published opinion entered August 22, 2023, affirming the superior court's ruling that Mr. Hartman had no standing to challenge admission of information obtained from voluntarily abandoned DNA analyzed by a non-state lab and uploaded to a public database. The analysis and upload were conducted without a warrant and no explicit consent of those who shared DNA with Mr. Hartman. A copy of the opinion is attached.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Did Mr. Hartman have standing to assert a constitutionally protected privacy interest in DNA information?
- B. Must state actors obtain a judicial warrant to search voluntarily abandoned DNA when the information is held by a third party, and which reveals a full genetic profile of an individual and his family?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 26, 1986, 12-year-old M.W. was missing. (CP 238). (FF 4). Late that night officers found her body. CP 239. (FF 6). She had been sexually assaulted and killed with a deadly weapon. CP 239. (FF 7,8). There were no eyewitnesses to the incident. CP 239. (FF 11).

Swabs from M.W.'s thigh, anal, oral and vaginal areas were taken and sent to the Washington State Patrol Forensic Crime Lab. (WSPCL). CP 239. (FF 9).

Twenty years later, in 2006, WSPCL developed a male DNA profile from the evidence, which indicated one male donor. CP 239-240. (FF 12, 13,14). A search of CODIS and NDIS system did not produce a match of evidentiary significance. CP 240. (FF 15).

In 2017, the Washington State Patrol Chief wrote a letter to the family verifying WSPCL could not search CODIS or NDIS for familial DNA<sup>1</sup>.

The same year, a Tacoma detective contacted a genealogist who had experience using autosomal<sup>2</sup> DNA analysis known as "forensic genetic genealogy.("FGG"). CP 241 (FF 19,20). The detective sent the evidentiary swabs to genealogist, Dr. Rae-Venter. CP 241. (FF 19,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A "familial DNA" search refers to the process of obtaining partial matches of DNA from CODIS indicating DNA of a relative of a known offender was recovered.

<sup>2</sup> Autosomal DNA testing reveals ancestry by comparing DNA that is shared with others, sometimes going back several generations. www.healthline.com/health/autosomal#testing. (last visited 9/19/23).

20). A DNA investigation began at the behest of law enforcement without a search warrant. CP 244 (FF 37).

Dr. Rae-Venter uploaded the raw DNA to Family

Tree DNA.com ("FTDNA") and GEDmatch.com. (CP 33).

She reportedly uncovered two potential familial matches,
characterized as "approximately second cousins." CP 241

(FF 21.)

#### She reported:

I ran the Promethease report for the [W] case. The zipfile of the report is attached. You can search it for various topics, e.g. baldness, eye color, addiction. ...Of the five genes that are listed relating to baldness, our perpetrator has alleles for four of them that are indicated as "bad", including one for likelihood of baldness before age 40. Based on this information, the perpetrator is mostly likely bald like his cousin...He also has alleles in several genes related to alcoholism/substance abuse and bipolar disorder. CP 97.

She reported the perpetrator was about 9% Native American ancestry. CP 98.

More work was then commenced by the DNA technology company Parabon Nanolabs. Parabon uses genetic genealogy to determine kinship between DNA samples collected from crime scenes to a database of genetic profiles uploaded to genealogical websites by consenting consumers. CP 241 (FF 23).

Parabon advertises that with extracted DNA or biological evidence from unsolved cases, it can perform a detailed phenotyping report, including a kinship analysis, to six degrees of relatedness. The process can reveal intimate details of a person's life related to health issues, misattribution of family relations, and similar information. CP 242. (FF 23).

Parabon searches public genetic genealogy databases. Using DNA single nucleotide polymorphisms profile ("SNP"), Parabon can generate profiles with vastly more genetic information than that found in CODIS. CP 242 (FF 24). The genetic genealogy matches can be

cross-referenced by name with traditional genealogy sources, such as Ancestry.com, and used to expedite family tree building and case solving. CP 242. (FF 24).

In a report dated May 29, 2018, Parabon reported:

The term "Subject" in this report refers to the person of interest whose DNA was found at the crime scene associated with case....The Subject's raw DNA file was uploaded to the public website GEDmatch as a "private" kit ...a match list was generated from individuals participating in the database and there were two significant hits.

CP 100.

Dr. Rae-Venter and Parabon named two individuals who shared DNA with the suspect. Neither individual was contacted about granting permission to use their information. CP 100-101. Through family tree genealogy, Parabon concluded one individual had two half-first cousins who were potential donors of the crime scene DNA evidence. CP 245 (FF 38).

Parabon recommended law enforcement surreptitiously collect abandoned DNA from both men to test for a DNA match. CP 245 (FF 39). After collection and analysis, WSPCL concluded Gary Hartman's DNA matched the DNA profile evidence. CP 246 (FF 41-44). On June 25, 2018, Pierce County prosecutors charged Gary Hartman with murder in the first degree. CP 6-8.

Mr. Hartman moved to suppress DNA information based on Article I, §7 of the Washington Constitution and the Fourth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. CP 31-65. He argued his private affairs were disturbed when

- (a) Tacoma police recruited and directed a genetic genealogist and Parabon to conduct a criminal investigation in the DNA profiles of unsuspecting citizens without probable cause or a warrant. CP 43-44;
- (b) Dr. Rae-Venter's familial DNA analysis disturbed

  Mr. Hartman's private affairs because it revealed his

private medical and familial information held by a third party without an individualized suspicion CP 51-52;

(c) Mr. Hartman had standing to challenge the warrantless search because his private medical and familial information was disturbed; and under Washington law,parties have standing to challenge a search "if private affairs have been disturbed, even if the information is held by third parties." 2/15/2022 RP 12; CP 45-53.

The superior court acknowledged the constitutionality of a familial DNA search by a private company at the direction of law enforcement, absent a warrant was an issue of first impression. The court held Mr. Hartman had no standing to challenge the search and ruled the DNA evidence admissible. CP 291-302; 232. The matter proceeded to a stipulated facts trial and Mr. Hartman was convicted and sentenced. CP 256-270. The Court of Appeals affirmed the superior court.

#### V. REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court will accept review of a petition if a matter is a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(3),(4).

Thirty years ago this Court wrote:

...[I]n construing Constitution Article I, §7, we have resisted the uncertain protection which results from tying our right to privacy to the constantly changing state of technology. We recognize as technology races ahead with ever increasing speed, our subjective expectations of privacy may be unconsciously altered. Our right to privacy may be eroded without our awareness, much less our consent. We believe our legal right to privacy should reflect thoughtful and purposeful choices rather than simply mirror the current state of commercial technology.

State v. Young, 123 Wn.2d 173, 867 P.2d 593 (1994).

- A. Mr. Hartman Has Standing To Challenge The
  Unwarranted Search Because His Private Affairs
  Were Disturbed.
  - The Information Obtained Through A Private Lab Analysis of DNA Intruded on Mr. Hartman's Private Affairs.

"No person shall be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, without authority of law." Const. art.

I, §7. The guarantee protects against warrantless searches of a private citizen's affairs. *State v. Jorden,* 160 Wn.2d 121, 126, 156 P.3d 893 (2007).

Privacy interests are those interests which citizens of Washington have held and should be entitled to hold, safe from governmental trespass." *State v. McKinney*,148 Wn.2d 20, 32, 60 P.3d 46 (2002).

The Court reviews (1) the *nature* of the information sought: whether the information obtained by the governmental trespass reveals intimate or discrete details of a person's life; (2) whether there are *historical* 

protections afforded to that interest; and (3) whether the perceived interest involves acquiring personal information by the government. The Court also considers the purpose for which the information sought is kept and by whom. State v. Jorden, 160 Wn.2d at 126-127.

Here, the constitutionally protected privacy interest is bodily integrity and genetic information. A privacy interest in the body and bodily functions is one Washington citizens have held and should be entitled to hold, safe from governmental trespass. *Robinson v . City of Seattle,* 102 Wn.App. 795, 819, 10 P.3d 452 (2000).

The collection of DNA from convicted offenders for identification is authorized under RCW 43.43.754. *State v. Surge,* 160 Wn.2d 65, 156 P.3d 208 (2007). But even in that diminished right to privacy, CODIS DNA analysis uses "junk DNA", or non-coding DNA. It is used with near certainty to identify a person. It does *not* "show more farreaching and complex characteristics like genetic traits."

Maryland v. King, 569 U.S. 435, 443, 133 S.Ct. 1958, 186 L.Ed.2d 1 (2013).

In this case, the unwarranted private lab DNA analysis and upload of the genetic profile to a public website unquestionably intruded on discrete and intimate genetic features, tendencies toward addiction and mental illness, ethnicity, physical traits and relatives.

In State v. Athan, 160 Wn.2d 354, 158 P.3d 27 (2007), this Court held the defendant lost all privacy interest when he used his own saliva to seal an envelope to mail back to officers who had pretended to be attorneys inviting him to participate in a class action lawsuit. State v. Athan, 160 Wn.2d at 367-68. The saliva was used only to identify the defendant as the perpetrator of a crime.

In a concurrence opinion, C.J. Alexander noted the conflict of *Athan* with the Court's holding in *State v. Boland*, 115 Wn.2d 571, 800 P.2d 112 (1990). The *Boland* Court held that a person had a reasonable

expectation of privacy in items he placed in his *trash can* outside of his home. State v. Athan, 160 Wn.2d at 388. The Chief Justice wrote "It is hard for me to imagine that a person has a reasonable expectation of privacy in his garbage, but he does not have the same reasonable expectation of privacy in his body makeup." *Id.* 

The majority held that DNA has the potential to reveal a vast amount of information including medical conditions and familial relations, and "while this may be true in some circumstances, the State's use of Athan's DNA here was narrowly limited to identification purposes." State v. Athan, 160 Wn.2d at 367-68.

Here, the use of the DNA was not narrowly limited to identification. Rather, law enforcement received a list of intensely private information which was not akin to a mere physical description voluntarily exposed to the public. It took specialized equipment and a private lab to obtain the genetic information. And the intimate information shared

was not limited to identification of a suspect, but rather, involved information held by third parties, that is, relatives.

Washington Courts have held that where private information is held by a third party, a search warrant is required. State v. Miles, 160 Wn.2d 236, 156 P.3d 864 (2007)(a search of personal banking records without a warrant violated Art. I §7); State v. Maxfield, 133 Wn.2d 332, 945 P.2d 196 (1997)(a search of electric consumption records without authority of law violated Art. 1 §7); State v. Jorden, 160 Wn.2d at 130 (information in a motel registry is a private affair because it reveals sensitive, discrete and private information about the motel's guest); State v. Phillip, 9 Wn.App.2d 464, 452 P.3d 553 (2019) (State must obtain a search warrant supported by probable cause before acquiring a defendant's cell site location information from a wireless carrier).

State v. Morse, 156 Wn.2d 1, 123 P.3d 832 (2005) is instructive. There, police were looking for an individual they believed was staying with Morse. The apartment manager said the person did not live there, and Morse was the only tenant on the apartment lease. *Id.* at \*5.

Officers went to the apartment and asked a third party for consent to enter and search for an individual with warrants (not Morse).

They did not ask about the relationship between

Morse and the individual who answered the door, nor did
they determine whether the person lived there or was
simply a temporary guest. The individual who opened the
door and granted consent to entry was in fact a temporary
guest.

Officers entered, and in their search saw Morse in a room with drugs. On review, this Court defined the issue as deciding whether a temporary guest has authority to authorize a search of the private areas of her host's home

while the host is present. Under Article I §7, common authority to consent rests on whether the individual has free access to the shared area and the authority to invite others into that area.

"The access must be significant enough that it can be concluded that a non-consenting co-occupant assumed the risk that the consenting co-occupant would invite others into the area." *Id.* at \*11. Further, the scope of consent given cannot exceed the scope of the consenting person's authority.

The Court held that Morse was the sole signatory on the lease and the sole tenant of the apartment searched. The temporary guest had limited control and thus, limited authority over that shared apartment. The Court ruled the State was required to prove the temporary guest had greater authority over the areas of the premises searched in order to consent to a search that would bind Morse. *Id.* at \*14.

The same analysis should apply in this case. Mr. Hartman was the sole owner of his own DNA. The fact that he shared DNA with others is a fact of life. Police did not seek or obtain consent from the individuals with his shared DNA, and under *Morse*, the individuals did not have authority to consent to a search of Mr. Hartman's DNA and family tree.

The recognition that shared DNA, that is DNA information held by a third party such as a relative or a website, may intrude on the privacy rights of individuals who have not consented to share that private information with law enforcement has prompted changes at the state and national levels.

In 2019 the public website GEDmatch.com instituted a policy requiring users to explicitly opt-in to allow GEDmatch to share their genetic information with law enforcement.

In 2019 the U.S. Department of Justice enacted guidelines for FGG: requiring authorization by a federal prosecutor, identification of the agency to the provider, and use of only those FGG companies that provided explicit notice to their service users and the public that law enforcement may use their eservice sites to investigate crimes.<sup>3</sup>

Similarly, in 2021 Maryland became the first state to enact legislation on the use of FGG. The law requires certification before the court that state and national criminal databases have been unfruitful and FGGs may only be used with consumer databases that have provided explicit notice to users that law enforcement may search the data *and* sought explicit consent from users. It requires labs accredited by Maryland Department of Health. Maryland Code, Public Safety § 2-506.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> https://www.justice.gov/olp/page/file/1204386/download (last visited 9/19/2023).

California enacted the Genetic Information Privacy Act after the identification, arrest, and conviction of Joseph DeAngelo. Identification had been facilitated by information Parabon labs provided to law enforcement. The law now restricts data collected by direct to consumer DNA testing companies: requiring customers to give express consent before their genetic data can be shared with a third party. The law specifically addresses that genomic data is highly distinguishable and the potential information hidden within genomic data is cause for significant concern. The law is directed at protecting individuals' privacy. California SB41, Chapter 596; Sec. 2 Chapter 2.6, §56.18, 56.181(a).

2021 Montana legislation prohibits a government entity from obtaining DNA search results from a consumer database without a search warrant issued upon a finding or probable cause or the consumer whose information is sought previously waived the consumer's right to privacy

in the information. A government entity may not obtain familial DNA search results or search results from partial matching from the DNA identification index or a consumer DNA database without a search warrant. HB 602, Chapter 413, 2021 January Regular Session.

Acquiring intensely private information through backdoor investigations without a search warrant, and without consent relieves the burden on law enforcement to obtain consent from a person whose property they seek to search. *State v. Morse,* 156 Wn.2d at \*15 (citing to *State v. Acrey,* 148 Wn.2d 738, 746, 64 P.3d 594 (2003)).

A public website used by consumers to find their relatives cannot be an open door to law enforcement to have DNA analyzed under a fake profile, uploaded, and compared to find relatives of a suspect, all without consent. A warrant was the lawful method to conduct the search and failure to obtain a warrant violated Mr.

Hartman's constitutional right to privacy of his own genetic information.

The Common Law Doctrine of Voluntary
 Abandonment Should Not Be Applied When
 Considering Advanced Technology And Private
 Affairs.

Washington Courts have long held the nature and extent of private information the government may learn about an individual must be tethered to judicial oversight through a warrant or qualify as one of the closely guarded exceptions to a warrant. *State v. Ladson,* 138 Wn.2d 343, 359, 979 P.2d 833 (1999). One exception to a warrant is the judicially created doctrine of "voluntary abandonment". *State v. Samalia,* 186 Wn.2d 262, 375 P.3d 1082(2016).

"Judicially created doctrines that diminish the scope of a person's private affairs must be applied with great care- particularly where applying such doctrines to new technology opens intimate details of a person's life to warrantless government inspection." *Id.* at 280. (Dissent opinion Yu, J., Stephens, J., Gordon McCloud, J.).

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