FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/20/2023 2:35 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 102409-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

GARY HARTMAN,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

ERICA EGGERTSEN
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 40447 / OID #91121
930 Tacoma Ave. S, Rm 946
Tacoma, WA 98402
(253) 798-6625

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Concluded That the Washington Constitution Permits Police Use of Voluntarily Abandoned DNA to Identify the Perpetrator of a Violent Sexually Motivated Murder

No significant question of constitutional law stems from the court of appeals' conclusion that Hartman lacked any privacy right in the DNA he voluntarily abandoned on the 12-year-old girl he raped and murdered. The court of appeals correctly rejected Hartman's request for creation of an unprecedented privacy interest in purposefully discarded bodily fluids at violent crime scenes. Review by this Court is unwarranted on procedural grounds and under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

1. Hartman failed to raise and preserve any claim related to privacy in his abandoned DNA

Hartman conceded at the trial court and in appellate briefing that he had abandoned any privacy interest in his semen at the crime scene. (2/15/22)RP 7; *Hartman*, slip op. at 13. At

oral argument, he alleged for the first time that he retained a privacy interest in DNA discarded on the victim's body. *Hartman*, slip op. at 13. The court of appeals acknowledged that this argument had not previously been raised but in its discretion addressed the claim. *Id.* at 13, 26-29.

Bases for suppression of evidence must be raised in the trial court. *See State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 334, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995); RAP 2.5. Late arguments prevent full factual development, impair full response by the opposing party, and deprive the court of fully developed argument. *See*, *e.g.*, *Dang v. Ehredt*, 95 Wn. App. 670, 677, 977 P.2d 29 (1999). This Court should not grant review of an unpreserved claim first raised in oral argument to the court of appeals.

2. The court of appeals correctly concluded that Hartman forfeited any privacy interest in his DNA by abandoning it at the crime scene

The court of appeals correctly recognized that the abandonment doctrine is well-settled law in Washington. *Hartman*, slip op. at 27. Law enforcement complies with the state

constitution when examining voluntarily abandoned property. *See State v. Samalia*, 186 Wn.2d 262, 273, 375 P.3d 1082 (2016) (proper search of abandoned cell phone); *State v. Evans*, 159 Wn.2d 402, 407-08, 150 P.3d 105 (2007) (proper search of abandoned briefcase); *State v. Reynolds*, 144 Wn.2d 282, 287, 27 P.3d 200 (2001) (proper search of abandoned coat). Hartman had no privacy interest in the bodily fluids he abandoned on MW pursuant to this doctrine.

This Court has specifically held that the abandonment doctrine applies to DNA extracted from voluntarily discarded bodily fluids. *State v. Athan*, 160 Wn.2d 354, 367-68, 158 P.3d 27 (2007). Police may use abandoned DNA for the narrow purpose of identifying the perpetrator of a crime. *Id.* at 368. Consistent with *Athan*, the court of appeals correctly concluded that no constitutional violation occurred when police examined Hartman's DNA "to determine the killer's identity and nothing more." *Hartman*, slip op. at 28. Hartman's DNA and personal characteristics were relevant to his identification. *Id.*

No significant question of constitutional law warrants review of the straightforward application of the abandonment doctrine to the semen Hartman abandoned on his victim. The issues raised by the dissent in *Athan* are inapplicable to Hartman. In that case, investigators invented a ruse to obtain Athan's saliva on an envelope. *Athan*, 160 Wn.2d at 361. Athan argued he had an expectation of privacy in the envelope because he believed he was corresponding with an attorney. *Id.* at 375. The dissent characterized Athan's exposure of his saliva as involuntary based on the ruse. *Id.* at 404.

No such concerns exist in Hartman's case. As the court of appeals observed, "[b]y ejaculating on MW's body, Hartman lost 'any privacy interest' in the semen he left behind or the DNA it contained." *Hartman*, slip op. at 28. Unlike Athan, Hartman purposefully and voluntarily exposed his DNA to the public when he abandoned it on MW's body. *See also State v. Carter*, 151 Wn.2d 118, 126, 86 P.3d 887 (2004) (no expectation of privacy when property "has voluntarily been placed in open view

of the public"). Hartman had no legitimate expectation of privacy in material he left behind at a crime scene he knew police would relentlessly investigate.

Hartman also fails to establish a conflict between Athan and other decisions of this Court. His comparison of purposefully abandoned DNA to the facts in *State v. Boland*, 115 Wn.2d 572, 800 P.2d 112 (1990) is inapt. In *Boland*, the defendant placed garbage in his covered private container "in expectation that it would be picked up by a licensed garbage collector." Boland, 115 Wn.2d at 578. Accordingly, this Court found that Boland had a legitimate expectation of privacy in the items he did not intend to expose to the public. *Id*. Hartman, in contrast, purposefully left his bodily fluids in a crime scene in a public park. The *Boland* court's recognition of a privacy interest in personal refuse bins does not establish a privacy interest in murder victims as repositories of DNA.

To encourage review, Hartman paints an unsubstantiated picture of police using advanced technology to learn intimate

details of private citizens' lives, and perhaps even constructing an unauthorized government DNA database of all citizens. This dystopic application of DNA has already been precluded by this Court's decision in *Athan*, which specifically limits police use of abandoned bodily fluids to identification of perpetrators of crime. *Athan*, Wn.2d at 368.

The uncontested findings of fact establish that police used direct-to-consumer DNA testing available to all citizens, including Hartman's relatives who had voluntarily uploaded their own DNA to GEDmatch. CP 94-95, 114, 169, 171, 243. Police did not use Hartman's discarded DNA to learn intimate information unrelated to identity. The court of appeals correctly observed that "[a]ll of the steps that police took in this case were for the purposes of identifying MW's killer, including narrowing the suspect pool by learning the killer's identifying characteristics." *Hartman*, slip op. at 28. Police did not engage in surreptitious efforts to monitor civilians, but rather transparently uploaded an abandoned DNA profile in full

compliance with GEDmatch's published terms of service regarding law enforcement. Police properly used Hartman's abandoned DNA to identify MW's killer in accordance with this Court's well-settled precedent. Hartman fails to establish a basis for review.

B. The Court of Appeals Properly Concluded Hartman Lacked Standing to Challenge Police Examination of Public Genetic Information Voluntarily Disclosed by Third Parties

No significant question of constitutional law stems from the court of appeals' conclusion that Hartman lacked standing to challenge law enforcement's use of the public DNA information in GEDmatch. A defendant has standing to challenge a search only when (1) law enforcement's actions implicated private affairs protected by the Washington constitution; and (2) the private affairs affected were the defendant's own. *State v. Surge*, 160 Wn.2d 65, 71, 156 P.3d 208 (2007). The court of appeals correctly applied this Court's precedent in finding that neither circumstance applied to Hartman's case. Review is unwarranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

1. No state constitutional privacy interest attaches to genetic information private citizens voluntarily upload to a public Internet site

The court of appeals properly concluded that public and voluntarily disclosed genetic information is not a protected private affair under article I, section 7 of the Washington constitution. *Hartman*, slip op. at 15. To determine whether government action implicates privacy interests, courts examine: (1) the nature of the information sought; (2) the protections it has been historically afforded; and (3) the location of the information and the purposes for which it is kept. *State v. Jorden*, 160 Wn.2d 121, 127, 156 P.3d 893 (2007). Analysis of each of these factors supports the court of appeals' conclusion.

The nature of the information sought in this case was public. No expectation of privacy attends information "voluntarily ... placed in open view of the public." *Carter*, 127 Wn.2d at 841; *see also State v. Goucher*, 124 Wn.2d 778, 787, 881 P.2d 210 (1994). Even potentially sensitive DNA

information loses constitutional protections if voluntarily exposed to the public. *Athan*, 160 Wn.2d 354.

The undisputed findings of fact in Hartman's case establish that the DNA in GEDmatch was public. CP 242-433 (FF 26-28), 247 (CL 2-3); 326 (FF 24). Law enforcement looked at genetic information private individuals had voluntarily and purposefully uploaded for the express "purpose of *sharing with strangers* [...] private information." *Hartman*, slip op. at 19 (emphasis in original). No precedent of this Court establishes a state constitutional privacy right applying to public information.

There are no historical protections for DNA information shared in the public sphere. *Athan*, 160 Wn.2d at 367, 387. Washington state recently declined to pass legislation requiring law enforcement to obtain consent or "valid legal process" before accessing consumer genetic databases. H.B. 2485 § 2(1)(c), 66th Leg. Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2020). Outside of Washington, legislatures have permitted law enforcement searches of government and public DNA databases under certain

circumstances. *Hartman*, slip op. at 23. Case law and statutes protecting against nonconsensual bodily intrusions and DNA analysis are inapplicable to publicly shared information. *See*, *e.g.*, *State v. Garcia-Salgado*, 170 Wn.2d 176, 183, 240 P.3d 153 (2010). No precedent shows a historical protection of DNA or familial information shared with the public.

The location of the genetic information on a public Internet site further establishes the DNA information as outside the purview of the state constitution. Hartman's relatives "made the information available to the public on the Internet ... at a time that GEDmatch's terms of service expressly stated that it would let law enforcement use its service to identify perpetrators." *Hartman*, slip op. at 24. This circumstance distinguishes Hartman's case from others where this Court has protected private information in the hands of third parties. *See Jorden*, 160 Wn.2d at 131 (motel registries); *State v. Hinton*, 179 Wn.2d 862, 864, 319 P.2d 9 (2014) (personal text communications); *State v. Muhammad*, 194 Wn.2d 577, 586, 451 P.3d 1060 (2019) (cell

site location information) (citing *Carpenter v. United States*, 585 U.S.__, 138 S. Ct. 2206, 2217, 201 L. Ed. 2d 507 (2018)).

Unlike the defendants in these cases, the individuals who uploaded their DNA information to GEDmatch did not intend to preserve the information as private. See Carpenter, 138 S. Ct. at 2217 ("what one seeks to preserve as private, even in an area accessible to the public, may be constitutionally protected."). As the court of appeals observed, "the DNA profiles uploaded into GEDmatch were expressly available for the public to analyze, unlike the motel registry list in Jorden, cell site location information in *Carpenter*, and the text messages in *Hinton*, all of which were revealed to specific businesses or individuals but were not posted on the Internet or made broadly available for public access." Hartman, slip op. at 24. The additional cases cited in Hartman's petition for review are inapplicable for the same reason. The banking records and electronic consumption records addressed in State v. Miles, 160 Wn.2d 236, 156 P.3d 864

(2007) and *State v. Maxfield*, 133 Wn.2d 332, 945 P.2d 196 (1997), were not voluntarily placed in public view.

Police investigating MW's rape and murder accessed the information on GEDmatch in the same manner available to any other interested member of the public. The court of appeals correctly found that law enforcement acted consistently with state constitutional protections. Police examination of public information is not a significant constitutional issue warranting review.

2. There is no state constitutional right to privacy in the bodies or genetic codes of other individuals

The court of appeals properly found that Hartman lacked a right to privacy in the genetic codes of his distant relatives. Standing to challenge a search requires a personal, "justifiable, reasonable, or legitimate expectation of privacy that has been invaded by governmental action." *Goucher*, 124 Wn.2d at 787. A legitimate expectation of privacy exists when there is: (1) "an actual (subjective) expectation of privacy by seeking to preserve something as private"; and (2) that society recognizes that

expectation as reasonable. *Evans*, 159 Wn.2d at 409. Hartman demonstrates neither.

Constitutional rights are personal. *Goucher*, 124 Wn.2d at 787. Hartman had no actual subjective expectation that his own interests had any bearing on his relatives' choices with respect to their bodies and DNA. Nor would society recognize such an expectation as reasonable. An individual may permit law enforcement access to their own private affairs even if it reveals private information about another person. *See State v. Bowman*, 198 Wn.2d 609, 618, 498 P.3d 478 (2021).

Hartman wrongly analogizes similar DNA to a shared apartment or joint tenancy. He asks this Court to accept review to find that police must treat DNA like an apartment with multiple tenants, requiring consent from all those present to conduct a search. Under this analysis, Hartman contends that police were required to ask for his consent before searching his relatives' DNA. Under Hartman's proposed rule, a freely given DNA sample could be impeded by a suspect's assertion of

ownership rights to similar DNA. Such a rule is unprecedented, untenable, and contrary to our society's respect for individual rights. The court of appeals properly concluded Hartman lacked standing to challenge police examination of public DNA information pertaining to third parties. No significant question of constitutional law warrants review.

C. The Court of Appeals Correctly Concluded That the Legislature is the Appropriate Regulator of Police Use of Publicly Available DNA Information in Future Investigations

Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4). No issue of substantial public interest exists where the factual scenario in *Hartman* is unlikely to reoccur. Since the investigation, GEDmatch has changed its terms of service to require users to explicitly consent to law enforcement use of DNA for genealogical comparisons. *Hartman*, slip op. at 7, 26 fn. 3. This Court's review of the court of appeals' well-reasoned decision is unwarranted where any future scenario involving genetic genealogy will be factually dissimilar to the investigation here.

The *Hartman* opinion properly points to the legislature as the appropriate future regulator of public DNA information. Hartman, slip op. at 2, 22 fn. 2, 26 fn. 3. The legislature has successfully and comprehensively regulated other advances in technology and public information that allows police to gather more exacting information from public sources than was available in the past. See RCW 43.386 (statutory scheme regulating government use of facial recognition technology). The legislature has already considered police use of open-source DNA information and may do so again. See Hartman, slip op. at 22, fn. 2. The concerns Hartman raises in his petition as to the future scope of government use of public genetic information are appropriately directed to legislature. They do not warrant invention of new state constitutional privacy interests contrary to this Court's well-established and long-standing principles permitting police examination of abandoned evidence and information freely available in the public sphere. No significant issue of substantial public interest requires this Court's review.

D. If Review is Granted, This Court Should Find That Reversal of Hartman's Conviction is Precluded by His Failure to Challenge the Search Warrant Below

Should this Court determine that review is warranted based on Hartman's petition, the State seeks review pursuant to RAP 13.4(d) of the appellate court's determination that Hartman's request for reversal of his conviction can be adjudicated on the available record. *Hartman*, slip op. at 12-13. Hartman did not challenge the warrant used to obtain DNA confirming his identity as MW's killer, nor was that warrant made part of the record on review. CP 328 (FF 36, 38, 39).

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